FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/23/2018 4:03 PM

SUPREME COURT NO.

5825-4

NO. 34656-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTO	N

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

SYLVESTER LOPEZ, SR.,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WALLA WALLA COUNTY

The Honorable M. Scott Wolfram, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2000, the State charged Lopez with four counts of first degree assault and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 3-4. A jury convicted him of two counts of first degree assault, two counts of second degree assault, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and he was sentenced to lifetime imprisonment under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act. CP 9. The trial court also imposed \$110 in court costs, \$70.99 in witness fees, \$50 in jury demand fees, \$47.70 in sheriff's fees, and a \$500 victim penalty assessment, totaling \$778.69. CP 8.

Lopez appealed, his lifetime sentence was vacated due to the State's failure to establish the predicate convictions, and his unlawful possession of a firearm charge was also reversed. <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 107 Wn. App. 270, 27 P.3d

237 (2001), <u>aff'd</u>, 147 Wn.2d 515, 55 P.3d 609 (2002). The mandate awarded Lopez \$199.72 in costs.

On resentencing, the trial court imposed 297 months' confinement and did not alter the \$776.69 imposed in LFOs. CP 48-49, 51. Lopez appealed again, his sentence was affirmed, and Division Three assessed \$2,512.49 in appellate costs. CP 74.

While this appeal was pending, Lopez filed a CrR 7.8 motion, which the trial court denied. CP 72. Division Three affirmed and assessed an additional \$2,597.45 against Lopez in appellate costs. CP 80.

Lopez filed another CrR 7.8 motion several years later, which was denied. CP 88. Lopez appeal, Division Three affirmed, and \$2,477.26 more in appellate costs were imposed. CP 91-97.

In July 2016, Lopez moved to modify his LFOs. CP 99-101. He explained that the trial court made a specific determination that he could pay \$778.69 in LFOs but that this amount had increased to \$15,703.37, which he could not pay. CP 100-02. He stated he was found indigent and remains indigent. CP 101. He also stated, "the job he is likely to get based upon his age, education and ex-felon status are not likely to generate income above minimum wage. The increased LFO debt is a burden and hardship upon him and his family." CP 101.

The prosecution and trial court conducted an ex parte proceeding to address the remission motion. The prosecutor stated, "That is Mr. Lopez's pro se motion, your Honor. We filed a response." RP 1. The trial court stated, "I have reviewed that. That would be denied. Do you have an order?" RP 1. The trial court entered written findings:

- 1. The mandatory obligations consisting of the criminal clerk's filing fee,^[1] and the crime victims penalty cannot be waived;
- 2. Requiring the payment of the legal financial obligations by the defendant will not impose a manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, that none of the grounds for granting relief in RCW 9.94A.7605 or otherwise apply in this case;
- 3. The defendant has the right to petition the court for relief after he has been released from confinement; and
- 4. The defendant has the right to petition the court for waiver of accrued interest upon payment of the principal amount owed.

CP 103.

Lopez appealed. CP 111. He asserted that the trial court's inquiry into his financial status and boilerplate findings were not sufficient to comply with the remission statutes or case law applying those statutes. Br. of Appellant at 5-10. Lopez also argued that enforcing payment from Lopez's inmate

¹ The criminal filing fee was never imposed on Lopez. CP 8, 48 (imposing court costs of \$110, not the filing fee). The Court of Appeals amended its decision upon Lopez's motion for reconsideration to reflect this. Appendix B.

accounts violated due process without an ability-to-pay determination. Br. of Appellant at 10-16. As discussed in greater detail below, the Court of Appeals rejected Lopez's arguments and affirmed. Appendix A.

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS THAT PERMIT LFO REMISSION MOTIONS TO BE FILED AT ANY TIME

The Court of Appeals decision effectively eliminates the ability for incarcerated individuals to obtain remission of significant amounts of LFOs based on current and future manifest hardship. This conflicts with the pertinent remission statutes and case law interpreting those statutes that permit offenders to petition for and obtain remission at any time.

Under RCW 10.01.160(4) and RCW 10.73.160(4), a defendant who has been ordered to pay costs may "at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof." Division Two of the Court of Appeals has recognized that "the plain and unambiguous language of the statute's first sentence *permits* a defendant to petition the superior court for remission of his LFOs 'at any time," so long as

² Shirts quotes RCW 10.01.160(4)'s language but, despite minor differences between RCW 10.01.160(4) (costs imposed by trial courts) and RCW 10.73.160(4) (appellate costs), the statutes are substantively identical. See State v. Shirts, 195 Wn. App. 849, 854 n.4, 381 P.3d 1223 (2016) (discussing language of both statutes).

the defendant owes LFOs and is not in 'contumacious default.'" State v. Shirts, 195 Wn. App. 849, 859, 381 P.3d 1223 (2016). Division Three agreed with Shirts, and held that "superior courts have no authority to deny a remission petition simply because an individual is in custody. As recognized in Shirts, incarcerated persons can suffer noneconomic harms as a result of LFO orders, such as increased security classification or restricted access to transitional classes or programming." State v. Wilson, 198 Wn. App. 632, 636, 393 P.3d 892 (2017) (citing Shirts, 195 Wn. App. at 852).

Despite the statutory language and the <u>Wilson</u> and <u>Shirts</u> decisions, the Court of Appeals in this case stated, "Economic considerations lack relevance when the State prison system provides one shelter and food." Appendix A at 10. Thus, the Court of Appeals holds that no incarcerated individual may ever obtain remission of LFOs.³ Because this directly conflicts with <u>Wilson</u>, <u>Shirts</u>, and the plain language of the remission statutes, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).⁴

³ Lopez recognizes that recent legislation was enacted that amends the statute to permit a defendant "at any time *after release from total confinement* petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or any unpaid portion thereof." LAWS OF 2018, §§ 6(4), 12(4) (emphasis added). These laws were not in effect when Lopez petitioned for remission.

⁴ The Court of Appeals decision is internally inconsistent on this point. While it states that economic considerations lack relevance in deciding the question of remission, it also recognizes that <u>Wilson</u> and <u>Shirts</u> "both acknowledge that inmates have the right to petition for relief under RCW 10.01.160(4) given the

The ability of people in Lopez's position to seek remission before they exit prison is important for their reentry into society. As the King County Prosecutor recently stated,

Reentry for most inmates leaving prison today consists of just \$40, a bus ticket back to the county of conviction, and a brand new official ID that says "Department of Corrections." We should not be surprised that people released from prison who are unable to find housing, a job, or any hope will return to the places and people that got them into trouble at the outset.

A system of reentry support must be built, funded, and operated in partnership with human services groups already doing this work. Reentry is a great untapped field that, if done right, will help people in transition succeed, reduce recidivism, and increase public safety.

Dan Satterberg, 10 Ways Washington State Should Begin Criminal Justice Reform, NW LAWYER, Oct. 2015, at 49. In light of this concern, the Court of Appeals decision that economic considerations "lack relevance" for incarcerated individuals should also be reviewed as a matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE TO ESTABLISH WHAT QUALIFIES AS A SUBSTANTIVE DETERMINATION OF "MANIFEST HARDSHIP" UNDER THE REMISSION STATUTES

In <u>City of Richland v. Wakefield</u>, 186 Wn.2d 596, 605, 380 P.3d 459 (2016), this court acknowledged, "We have little case law" on the remission

statute's 'at any time' language." Appendix A at 11. Both propositions cannot be true.

statutes. However, the court provided discussion and examples of what would qualify as manifest hardship, directing courts faced with remission motions to apply the GR 34 standards. Id. at 606-07.

The trial court did not engage in this analysis here. Instead, the trial court indicated it reviewed Lopez's motion, the State's response, denied the motion, and then entered a written finding stating, "Requiring the payment of the payment of the legal financial obligations by the defendant will not impose a manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family" CP 103. The trial court did not say why Lopez did not demonstrate manifest hardship given that he asserted his LFOs had increased to nearly \$16,000 as a result of compounding interest, that he remained indigent based on his age, education, and ex-felon status, and his indication that, when he exits prison, "his employment opportunity has greatly decreased[, and] most like he will collect Social Security, food stamps and other senior citizen benefits." CP 100-01, 106-07.

Yet the Court of Appeals indicated this was a sufficient inquiry into the remission question because "Outlining all the reasons for the denial on the record serves no purpose when one of the parties is absent. The remission statute does not require oral findings or oral legal conclusions." Appendix A at 9. Thus, according to the Court of Appeals, all the trial court need enter is a boilerplate finding that the defendant has not demonstrated "manifest"

hardship," without providing any reason based on the facts the defendant has presented. This result conflicts with <u>Wakefield</u>, meriting RAP 13.4(b)(1) review.

The Court of Appeals also suggested that Lopez was not entitled to relief because he failed to provide "substantiation behind [the manifest hardship] allegation." Appendix A at 10. The Court of Appeals stated that Lopez did not provide a financial statement, an explanation for his inability to work after prison, and then, without citing authority, held, "A party seeking remission of legal financial obligations should declare in a written statement under penalty of perjury or in court under oath as to his or her complete financial circumstances." Appendix A at 10. There is no authority requiring what the Court of Appeals would require from an incarcerated indigent offender. If the courts wish to develop actual standards governing the requirements for the remissions process, Lopez would welcome that development because standards are sorely needed. The Court of Appeals opinion, however, merely underscores the procedural and substantive uncertainty of what is necessary to establish a basis for remission. This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE INSANT COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AND ITS DECISION IN STATE v. CROOK⁵ CONFLICT WITH CONSTITUTIONAL PRECEDENT OF THE UNTIED STATES AND WASHINGTON SUPREME COURTS REQUIRING AN ABILITY-TO-PAY INQUIRY BEFORE ENFORCED COLLECTION

Lopez asks this court to review whether <u>State v. Crook</u>, 146 Wn. App. 24, 189 P.3d 811 (2008), is incorrect and harmful pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

"The imposition and collection of LFOs have constitution implications and are subject to constitutional imitations." State v. Duncan, 185 Wn.2d 430, 436, 374 P.3d 83 (2016). State v. Barklind, 87 Wn.2d 814, 817, 557 P.2d 314 (1976), distilled seven requirements of a constitutional LFO system from Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 44-47, 94 S. Ct. 2116, 40 L. Ed. 2d 642 (1974): (1) repayment must not be mandatory; (2) repayment may be imposed only on convicted defendant; (3) repayment may only be ordered if the defendant is or will be able to pay; (4) the financial resources of the defendant must be taken into account; (5) a repayment obligation may not be imposed if it appears there is no likelihood the defendant's indigency will end; (6) the defendant must be permitted to petition the court for remission of the payment of costs or any unpaid portion; (7) the defendant cannot be held in contempt for failure to

⁵ 146 Wn. App. 24, 189 P.3d 811 (2008).

repay if the default was not attributable to an intentional refusal to obey the court order or a failure to make a good faith effort to make repayment.

The constitutionality of Washington's LFO statutes depends on conducting ability-to-pay inquires at certain times, including "when sanctions are sought for nonpayment," "if the State seeks to impose some additional penalty for failure to pay," and "before <u>enforced collection</u> or any sanction is imposed for nonpayment." <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 242, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (emphasis added).

However, "enforced collection" occurs for incarcerated individuals without any inquiry into ability to pay, and it occurs with the judiciary's express endorsement. This is so, according to the Court of Appeals, because mandatory Department of Corrections deductions "for payment of LFOs are not collection actions by the State requirement inquiry into a defendant's financial status." State v. Crook, 146 Wn. App. 24, 27-28, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). The Crook court determined that mandatory deductions were not collection actions because "[s]tatutory guidelines set forth specific formulas allowing for fluctuating amounts to be withheld based on designated percentages and inmate account balances, assuring inmate accounts are not reduced below indigency levels. RCW 72.11.020; RCW 72.09.111(1); RCW 72.09.015(10)." Crook, 146 Wn. App. at 28.

<u>Crook</u> is inconsistent with <u>Blank</u> and <u>Fuller</u>. A state agency's mandatory collection from inmate wages is a collection action. The mere fact that statutes⁶ provide formulas to facilitate this enforced collection does not exempt the collection from qualifying as enforced collection. The Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 indicates that DOC's deductions are indeed collection actions. "Collect"

when used in reference to the department [DOC, per RCW 9.94A.030(17)], means that the department, either <u>directly</u> or through a collection agreement authorized by RCW 9.94A.760, is responsible for monitoring and <u>enforcing the offender's sentence with regard to the legal financial obligation, receiving payment thereof from the offender, and, consistent with current law, <u>delivering daily the entire payment to the superior court clerk without depositing it in a departmental account.</u></u>

RCW 9.94A.030(2) (emphasis added). The fact that no court inquires into financial status before the Department of Corrections enforces collection from inmates violates the constitutional principles espoused in Fuller and Blank.

The Court of Appeals refused to consider Lopez's direct challenge to Crook because it claimed he cited "no case authority that directly supports his position." Appendix A at 12. The Court of Appeals apparently overlooked Lopez's reliance on Blank and Fuller to challenge Crook. And the Court of

⁶ <u>See</u> RCW 72.11.020 (DOC secretary is custodian for inmate funds and may disburse money to satisfy LFOs); RCW 72.09.110 (requiring inmates to "participate in the cost of corrections"); RCW 72.09.111 (enumerating deduction schedules and formulas for varying classes of wages).

Appeals also deflected Lopez's challenge by stating that withdrawals from inmates' accounts are not collection actions and citing <u>Crook</u> as authority, the very authority Lopez challenges. Appendix A at 11.

<u>Crook</u>'s fiction that DOC collections do not qualify as state collection actions makes no sense and conflicts with <u>Blank</u> and <u>Fuller</u> on the constitutional question of when ability-to-pay inquiries must occur. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) review is warranted to decide whether <u>Crook</u> should be overruled as incorrect and harmful. <u>See In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek</u>, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970) (holding stare decisis "requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned").

E. CONCLUSION

Because he satisfies all RAP 13.4(b) criteria, Lopez asks that his petition for review be granted.