# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2018 12:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COA No. 34656-1-III

No. 95825-4

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SYLVESTER CANTU LOPEZ, SR.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STATE'S ANSWER

Respectfully submitted:

Ione Cle

by: Teresa Chen, WSBA 31762 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

P.O. Box 4242 Pasco, Washington 99302 (509) 545-3543

##

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, represented by the Walla Walla County Prosecutor, is the Respondent herein.

#### II. RELIEF REQUESTED

Respondent asserts no error occurred in the denial of the Appellant's motion to remit LFO's.

#### III. ISSUES

- Where the Unpublished Opinion agrees with and follows State
   V. Shirts and State v. Wilson, is there any consideration for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2)?
- Where "manifest hardship" is an easily understood standard, is its discussion an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4); and is this case, with its bare record and bald allegation of hardship, a useful vehicle for such a discussion, especially in light of this Court's recent discussion in the factrich case of City of Richland v. Wakefield?
- 3. Where neither the superior court nor the court of appeals heard argument or ruled upon a due process challenge to the imposition of interest and DOC mandatory deductions, is there

any decision to review?

4. Where neither the superior court nor the court of appeals relied upon *State v. Crook* in denying and affirming the denial of the motion to remit, in the context of this case is there any lawful basis for the Court to review the validity of *State v. Crook*?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant Sylvester Cantu Lopez, Sr. is serving a 297 month sentence in Walla Walla Superior Court No. 00-1-00013-5. CP 51. He is appealing from the denial of a 2016 motion to remit LFO's.

At his sentencing (and resentencing), the court imposed various costs as well as the \$500 victim penalty assessment for a total of \$778.69 in legal financial obligations. CP 8, 48.

Seven appeals and three personal restraint petitions followed.

- 19373-0-III/71606-4 (direct appeal from jury verdict and LWOP sentence) State v. Lopez, 147 Wn.2d 515, 518-19, 55 P.3d 609 (2002); State v. Lopez, 107 Wn. App. 270, 273, 27 P.3d 237 (2001).
- 21797-3-III (appeal from resentencing) mandate 1/11/05
- 23489-4-III (appeal of CrR 7.8 motion) mandate 8/24/06
- 79424-3 (PRP 1) certificate of finality 4/5/07
- 79912-1 (PRP 2) certificate of finality 11/26/07
- 84709-6 (PRP 3) certificate of finality 8/17/11
- 30659-3-III/88947-3 (appeal of CrR 7.8 motion) order terminating review 10/2/13
- 34656-1-III/958254 (appeal of denial of motion to modify LFO's) – this petition for review

- 35671-0-III (appeal of denial of CrR 7.8 motion claiming vindictive prosecution) pending
- 36013-0-III (appeal of denial of motion to terminate LFO's) pending

On July 20, 2016, the Defendant filed a motion to modify his LFO's. CP 99-102. He observed that his LFO balance is due in large part to the costs from his many appellate matters. CP 100, 102. He requested the court vacate all the LFO's, not just the costs, and waive interest. CP 101.

[The Defendant also challenged the initial finding of ability to pay. CP 100-01 (citing RCW 9.94A.7606(1)(a) and *United States v.* Walker, 39 F.3d 489, 492 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994); *United States v. Francisco*, 35 F.3d 116 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994)). This time-barred matter was not raised in the subsequent appeal, although it has been renewed in a later CrR 7.8 motion. COA No. 36013-0-III (pending).]

Although the later appeal and this petition would make a due process challenge to the imposition of interest and DOC mandatory deductions, that challenge was not raised to the superior court. CP 99-102. Instead the Defendant relied upon a claim of hardship. CP 100. In support of his motion, the Defendant noted that he has been incarcerated for many years. CP 101. He argued that he is unlikely to

find work paying more than minimum wage due to his education, exfelon status, and projected age<sup>1</sup> upon release. CP 101. "Lopez failed to provide the superior court any facts under oath." Unpublished Opinion at 3.

The superior court denied his motion, and the court of appeal affirmed. CP 103-04. The Unpublished Opinion recites the standards for remission of costs, citing inter alia RCW 10.01.160(4) (court "may" remit costs), *State v. Shirts*, 195 Wn. App. 849, 858-59, 381 P.3d 1223 (2016) (offender may petition "at any time"), and *State v. Wilson*, 198 Wn. App. 632, 634-35, 393 P.3d 892 (2017) (court must be satisfied collection imposes "manifest hardship"). Unpub. Op. at 5-6. The Opinion notes that some LFOs are not costs which can be remitted under RCW 10.01.160(4). Unpub. Op. at 1, 6. It held that the court does not abuse its discretion in denying a motion to remit where manifest hardship is not shown. Unpub. Op. at 1, 7. The Defendant seeks discretionary review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Defendant, born August 1, 1958, is serving a sentence of 297 months on charges filed in the year 2000. Under RCW 9.94A.729(3)(b), the Defendant is eligible to earn a reduction of up to 15% of his sentence. RCW 9.94A.030(46) (assault in the first degree is a "serious violent offense"). In other words, he may be released after serving 21 years. He would be 63.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. THE DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH STATE V. SHIRTS OR STATE V. WILSON.

The Defendant argues that the Unpublished Opinion conflicts with *State v. Shirts, supra* and *State v. Wilson, supra*. Petition for Review at 5-6 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(2)). There is no conflict. The Opinion specifically cites *Shirts* and *Wilson* in support of its holding. Unpub. Op. at 5, 6, 8, 11. In fact, the *Wilson* opinion was written the year before by two of the three signators to our Unpublished Opinion. In light of that, the Defendant's claim of conflict is untenable.

In *Wilson*, the court disagreed that an incarcerated offender "must wait until release from prison to petition for remission." *Wilson*, 198 Wn. App. at 633. "[S]uperior courts have no authority to deny a remission petition simply because an individual is in custody," because "incarcerated persons [may be able to show they] suffer *noneconomic* harms as a result of LFO orders, such as<sup>2</sup> increased security classification or restricted access to transitional classes or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Actually, neither the Washington DOC nor the federal BOP treat offenders differently based on their LFO's when it comes to programming or security classification. That this found its way into a published opinion should caution courts and counsel to require proof. LAWS OF 2018, ch. 269, § 6(4) forecloses a claim in the style of Shirts after June 6,2018.

programming." *State v. Wilson*, 198 Wn. App. at 636 (citing *State v. Shirts*, 195 Wn. App. at 852) (emphasis added). The denial of Wilson's motion was affirmed, because "[u]nlike Mr. Shirts, Mr. Wilson has not alleged that the court's LFO order has caused him noneconomic hardship." *Wilson*, 198 Wn. App. at 636.

The Defendant argues that the Unpublished Opinion conflicts with these cases. Petition at 6 (arguing that the Opinion holds "that no incarcerated individual may ever obtain remission of LFOs"). It does not. This is a misrepresentation of the Opinion and a disservice to this Court. On the contrary, the Opinion clarifies that the superior court's invitation to the Defendant to renew his petition after his release from incarceration should *not* be interpreted as precluding him from petitioning sooner.

Sylvester Lopez also argues the superior court erred in its third finding that Lopez holds the right to petition the court for relief after he has been released from confinement. Read literally, this statement of the law is correct. Lopez may bring a motion for remission on his freedom from incarceration. To the extent that the third finding may be read to preclude Lopez from filing a motion for remission until release from prison, we disagree. *State v. Wilson*, 198 Wn. App. 632 (2017) and *State v. Shirts*, 195 Wn. App. 849 (2016) both acknowledge that inmates have the right to petition for relief under RCW 10.01.160(4) given the statute's "at any time" language.

Unpub. Op. at 10-11.

In a footnote, the Defendant argues that the Unpublished Opinion is "internally inconsistent" insofar as it finds that economic considerations lack relevance during incarceration where inmates have a right to petition for relief. Petition for Review at 6, n. 4. There is no inconsistency. On the contrary, it is the Defendant's argument which does not track. The Defendant equates the right to petition for remission of costs to a right to have that petition granted as to all LFO's. Petition for Review at 5-6. The law provides a right to petition or to seek relief only. RCW 10.01.160(4) ("may petition at any time"). The law does not compel the court to grant the petition. If the court is satisfied both that "manifest hardship" has been shown and that the defendant is not in contumacious default, it then has discretion whether and how to proceed. Id. ("the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs or modify the method of payment"). This statute authorizes review of costs<sup>3</sup> only. See RCW 10.01.160(2) (defining costs). It does not authorize reduction or waiver of penalties, fines, restitution, or interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Defendant's LFO's are mostly, but not entirely, costs.

Not only is the court not obliged to grant every petition to remit costs, it lacks authority to do so where "manifest hardship" is not demonstrated. Manifest hardship can be shown by economic or non-economic considerations. Inmates, however, cannot show economic hardship where their room, board, clothing, and health care are provided. Unpub. Op. at 11 ("Economic considerations lack relevance when the State prison system provides one shelter and food."). The Legislature is of the same opinion. Laws of 2018, ch. 269, § 6(4), (amending RCW 10.01.160(4) to permit petitions for remission of costs "at any time after release from total confinement") (effective June 7, 2018). However, inmates' petitions may still be successful with a satisfactory showing of *non*economic hardship. The Defendant has not alleged that his LFO's cause him a noneconomic hardship.

The Defendant argues that it would ease reentry if an inmate could be released from incarceration without the burden of outstanding LFO's. Petition at 7. This argument does not raise an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The courts cannot strike down laws because they disagree with the Legislature's policy preferences. They cannot strike down laws because reduced punishment or accountability would make it easier for an offender to

adjust after a period of incarceration.

Contrary to the Defendant's suggestion, Mr. Satterberg's article does not endorse doing away with LFO's. Petition at 7. Many things would ease reentry from incarceration. The King County Prosecutor promoted "statewide reentry investment" into programs "of reentry support ... in partnership with human services groups already doing this work." Dan Satterberg, 10 Ways Washington State Should Begin Criminal Justice Reform, NW LAWYER, Oct. 2015, at 49.

The Legislature has authorized LFO's, because there are stronger public policy arguments for them than against them. Accountability, deterrence, and restitution – just to start. If punishment is limited to ability to pay, would the poor be incarcerated where the rich would pay? Or would the poor simply never be held responsible for the damage they cause others?

In the Defendant's case, his appellate costs have, thus far, not been much deterrent. While this petition is pending, he has already renewed the identical claim in a new CrR 7.8 motion and is appealing its denial. But perhaps his motions demonstrate an awakening of his consciousness to his societal debt and that he is beginning to plan for his future upon release. A waiver of costs at this juncture, where the

Defendant has made conclusory allegations with no offer of proof, only encourages his (and others') use of precious court resources.

The Defendant has not demonstrated a conflict of case law or an issue of substantial public interest. Discretionary review must be denied.

B. "MANIFEST HARDSHIP" DOES NOT REQUIRE FURTHER INTERPRETATION; AND THIS CASE DOES NOT PROVIDE A USEFUL RECORD FOR DISCUSSION OF THE MATTER.

The Defendant argues that the superior court should have applied the standards in *City of Richland v. Wakefield*, 186 Wn.2d 596, 380 P.3d 459 (2016). Petition at 8. This does not make sense. The *Wakefield* standard looks to receipt of public assistance. Unlike Ms. Wakefield, the Defendant is incarcerated. An incarcerated person is ineligible for public assistance. The mere fact of his incarceration conclusively demonstrates the *Wakefield* standard is not met.

The *Wakefield* opinion noted that "both for the imposition and enforcement of LFOs," courts "should seriously question" a person's ability to pay LFO's if they meet the GR 34 standard for indigency. *Wakefield*, 188 Wn.2d at 606-07 ("reiterat[ing] our instruction from *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wash.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015)"). This

standard considers whether the person receives public assistance. Ms. Wakefield plainly did. The Defendant is not even eligible to apply. WAC 182-503-0070(3); WAC 388-408-0040; WA ADC 182-513-1235(4)(b).

The Defendant is receiving full room, board, clothing, and medical. Ms. Wakefield is not. She receives only \$170 in food stamps, is homeless, and must provide herself the core necessities of life including clothing. *Wakefield*, 186 Wn.2d at 600-02. Ms. Wakefield had four children in foster care and was involved in a dependency action. *Id.* at 600. She has the ability to petition to have her children returned to her; the Defendant does not. If they return, she will need to provide for them as well as herself. In addition, Ms. Wakefield suffers permanent disabilities which have been verified by the Social Security Administration. *Id.* The Defendant alleges none.

The Defendant argues that the court should have been satisfied with his assertions that he believed that when he was released he would not be likely to find "above minimum wage" work and planned to apply for public assistance. Petition at 8; CP 101. The court was not satisfied – justifiably so. The Defendant provided no facts and certainly no sworn facts. He asked the court to project

the least hopeful scenario which would best serve the ends of his motion. The scenario fails to draw on his own employment history. The projection is not reality. The Defendant did not demonstrate that the fact of his LFO's will impose manifest hardship on him or his immediate family. The court did not abuse its discretion.

The Defendant argues that the Opinion conflicts with Wakefield, which he claims requires lengthy, detailed findings regarding hardship. Petition at 8-9. No pinpoint cite is provided, because none exists. In Wakefield, the trial court's finding was overturned, because it was not supported by substantial evidence. Wakefield, 186 Wn.2d at 609. The legal standard is that a factual finding needs to be supported by substantial evidence "in the record," not in the order. Id. at 605 (citing RALJ 9.1(b)).

The Defendant claims that the proponent of the motion seeking to overturn a court order does not bear the burden of proof. Petition at 9. No authority is offered for this proposition. It is not a matter of substantial public interest. The Defendant is the best source of information regarding his work history, employability, income, savings, education, and health. The absence of any offer of proof is evidence that hardship was not manifested to the court.

The Defendant argues that this case is a useful vehicle to develop standards for proving manifest hardship. Petition at 9. The claim is unsound. This case has a minimal record, offering little matter for discussion. *Wakefield* had a fact-rich record and has already provided the Court the opportunity to expound on the topic. In this case, the Defendant could not prove hardship, because he is not suffering hardship. What his circumstances will be in the future are not known now and cannot be predicted with any accuracy.

# C. THE DEFENDANT CANNOT SEEK "REVIEW" OF A MATTER NEITHER LITIGATED NOR RULED UPON IN THIS CASE.

The Court of Appeals declined to review the Defendant's challenge to the imposition of interest and mandatory Department of Corrections (DOC) deductions, "because Lopez did not raise the argument below." Unpub. Op. at 5. Undeterred, the Defendant seeks discretionary "review" of a matter not heard by the superior court and not considered by the court of appeals. Petition 11-13.

The petition must be summarily denied. This Court cannot "review" what has never been heard in the first place.

Where no ruling was made, the Defendant cannot demonstrate any necessary condition under RAP 13.4(b).

#### D. THE DECISION DOES NOT RELY ON STATE V. CROOK.

The Defendant asks this Court to review the authority of *State v. Crook*, 146 Wn. App. 24, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). Petition at 10 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3)). He argues that *Crook* "is inconsistent" with *State v. Blank*, 131 Wn. 2d 230, 242, 930 P. 2d 1213 (1997) and *Fuller v. Oregon*, 417 U. S. 40, 44- 47, 94 S. Ct. 2116, 40 L. Ed. 2d 642 (1974). Petition at 12. This is not the standard for review.

A petitioner must demonstrate the Opinion *in his own case* conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or raises a significant question of law under the constitution. He does not claim this. Rather he claims that *Crook* conflicts or raises a constitutional question. Nor can he claim a proper consideration exists in his own case. The Defendant's motion was denied because the court was not satisfied that LFO's will cause him manifest hardship. The outcome in this case does not rely on *Crook*, but on RCW 10.01.160(4).

The Defendant objects to the holding in *Crook* which permits mandatory deductions for an inmate's DOC account as non-collection actions. *State v. Crook* has been cited in 33 opinions over nine years and never questioned on this point. The Defendant argues that a deduction is a collection and that, under *Fuller* and *Blank*, a collection

requires a finding of ability to pay. Petition at 11. Although the validity of *Crook* is not relevant here, *Crook* is consistent with *Fuller* and *Blank*. The Defendant's judgment contains a finding of ability to pay which was made immediately before he was transferred to DOC custody. CP 8, 48.

The Defendant quarrels with the definition of indigency in RCW 72.09.015(15) which requires the DOC to always leave at least a tendollar balance in an inmate's account. Petition at 11. This, of course, is in the context where the DOC provides for all an inmate's essential needs, such that deductions cannot result in manifest hardship. There is no record to show otherwise, and an appeal must be decided on the record on review. RAP 9.1(a).

Regardless of whether the courts reinterpret "collection," (1) there is no threat of sanction at this time, and (2) there is no duty to make an individual inquiry *after* imposition. There is no constitutional violation.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the forgoing, the State respectfully requests this Court deny the petition.